
  

  

 
Fairfax County is committed to a policy of nondiscrimination in all county programs, services and activities and will provide reasonable 
accommodations upon request. To request special accommodations, call 703-324-7000 or TTY 711.  Please allow seven working days in 

advance of the event to make the necessary arrangements.  These services are available at no charge to the individual. 
 
 

FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD 
SERVICE DELIVERY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING 

Evan Jones, Chair 

Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM 

Sharon Bulova Center for Community Health 
8221 Willow Oaks Corporate Drive 

Level 3, Room 3-314, West 
Fairfax, VA 22031 

 

MEETING AGENDA 
1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones 

2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones 

3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones 

4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones  

5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones 

6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton 

▪ by Heather Norton, Asst. Commissioner, Developmental Services 
Virgnia Dept. of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services 

7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney 

8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna 

9. Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams & 

A. LaVurne Williams, Division Director Youth and Family    Peter Steinburg 

B. Peter Steinburg, Program Manager Healthy Minds Fairfax 

10. HopeLink: TIP Program  Beth Hall  
▪ by Beth Hall, Director of Youth and Family Services HopeLink Behavioral Health 

11. Community Partner Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones 

12. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young & 

..   Abbey May 

13. Adjournment  Evan Jones 

 
Meeting materials are posted online at Community Services Board | Community Services Board (fairfaxcounty.gov) or may be 

requested by contacting Sameera Awan at Sameera.Awan@fairfaxcounty.gov 

https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/community-services-board/board
mailto:Sameera.Awan@fairfaxcounty.gov


 
 

FAIRFAX FALLS-CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD 
SERVICE DELIVERY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

FEBRUARY 14, 2024 
 

The Service Delivery Oversight Committee met in regular session at the Sharon Bulova Center, 8221 
Willow Oaks Corporate Drive, Level 3, Room 3-314 West, Fairfax, VA 22031 

 
 

1. Meeting Called to Order  

Committee Chair Evan Jones called the meeting to order at 5:04 PM. 
 

2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions 

PRESENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: COMMITTEE CHAIR EVAN JONES; SHEILA 
COPLAN JONAS; DARIA AKERS; JIM GILLESPIE; DAN SHERRANGE; 
SRILEKHA PALLE 

 
ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS: CAPTAIN DANIEL WILSON; ROBERT 

BARTOLOTTA 
 

Associate Members in Attendance: Maureen Gum, Langley Residential Support Services; Laura 
Fonner, Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services, Inc. (PRS), Lucy Beadnell, ARC of Northern Virginia; 
Rebecca Sutter, Doctor of Nursing Practice at George Mason University; Joe Getch, Psychiatric 
Rehabilitation Services, Inc.; Cathy Ben, Second Story, LLC; Rebecca Sutter, Doctor of Nursing 
Practice at George Mason; Tracee Garner and Dominique Dunford-Lack, Endependence Center of 
Northern Virginia (ECNV); Sharon Denisar, FCPS; Maureen Gumm, Langley Residential Support Services 
(LRSS); Sean McGinnis, Hartwood Foundation, Inc. (HFI); Randy Shusman, Pathway Homes, Inc. (PHI); 
Donyale Hobson Garcia, Makom Jewish Foundation for Group Homes (JFGH); Taquanda Dixon, Melwood; 
Little Kay and Kathy Baker, Service Source, Inc. (SvSc); Michel Kahak, Khak, Inc.; Britton, Robert; Janet 
Burmester 

 
Staff in Attendance:  Deputy Director of Clinical Operations Barbara Wadley-Young, Legislative 
and Grants Analyst Elizabeth McCartney, Deputy Director of Clinical Operations Abbey May, 
Sebastian Tezna Division Director of NVRPO, Division Director of Developmental Disabilities and 
Support Coordination Sierra Simmons, Division Director of BHOP Eileen Bryceland, Division 
Director of Contract and Supportive Services Kevin Lafin and Board Clerk Sameera Awan. 
 

3. Matters of the Public 

Trudy Harsh, a public member, introduced herself as the Brain Foundation's founder. Through 
partnerships with Pathway Homes, PRS, and the CSB, nine houses are in Fairfax County. The 
organization operates entirely with volunteers and has no paid staff. When fully occupied, it 
accommodates 36 tenants. She expressed frustration over the loss of family housing vouchers, 
which were competitively assigned through the Housing Authority. The Housing Authority 
withdrew the vouchers, citing concerns about jeopardizing other housing opportunities. Despite 
appealing to her supervisor and seeking assistance from US Congressman Gerry Connolly's office, 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.1 



CSB Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes 
February 14, 2024 
Page 2 of 6 
 

 
she received no satisfactory response. Ms. Harsh highlighted the challenges faced by individuals 
with mental illness in accessing housing and the lack of advocacy on their behalf. 
 

4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda 

The meeting agenda was provided for review, no amendments were made. 
 

5. Approval of Minutes 

The December 6, 2023, Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes were provided 
for review; no amendments were made. 
 
MOTION TO ADOPT DECEMBER 6, 2023, MEETING MINUTES WAS MOVED BY COMMITTEE 
CHAIR DARIA AKERS, SECONDED BY COMMITTEE MEMBER JIM GILLESPIE. 

  
MOTION TO ADOPT WAS APPROVED BY SHEILA COPLAN JONAS, DARIA AKERS, EVAN JONES, 
JIM GILLESPIE AND SRLIEKHA PALLE. 
 

6. Legislative Update 

Legislative and Grants Analyst Elizabeth McCartney provided updates on the CSB Board's 
activities during the 2024 Virginia General Assembly session, which began on January 10, 2024. 
During the session, McCartney highlighted key budget aspects. She emphasized that details of 
budget amendments tied to specific bills or consisting of language-only changes would be 
accessible on February 20th when posted on the budget website. 
 
In the legislative arena, the CSB had scrutinized 200 bills. The county's government relations 
tracking system and staff swiftly delivered crucial feedback on bills pertinent to CSB services. A 
primary focus was on bills addressing the civil admission process, an ongoing concern for the past 
four to five years. Notably, SB 34 and HB 608, mirroring a previously opposed bill, were 
scheduled for discussion by the legislative committee. 
 
Addressing a significant bill arising from the Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission 
(JLARC) report on Virginia psychiatric hospitals, HB 888 and SB 176 were classified as adverse. 
These bills dealt with neurodevelopmental disabilities and neurocognitive issues, proposing that 
individuals with such conditions be categorized as having a mental illness, potentially affecting 
their eligibility for Temporary Detention Order (TDO) for Involuntary Admissions. The VACSB also 
opposed these bills. 
 
SB 497 and HB 823 focused on alternative transportation, aiming to codify a six-hour time limit 
for the availability of alternative transportation providers in TDO cases. HB 822 was marked as 
adverse due to its potential to grant the CSB authority to take custody of individuals in the eco 
process, deviating from the standard involvement of law enforcement. This served as a point of 
opposition. 
 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.2 



CSB Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes 
February 14, 2024 
Page 3 of 6 
 

 
Lastly, HB 808 and SB 653 were flagged as adverse, suggesting a delay in admissions to state 
psychiatric hospitals until it is confirmed that individuals don't have urgent medical needs. 
McCartney argued that this could complicate the system and cause unnecessary delays in 
admitting individuals in need. These feedback points have been shared with government 
relations for discussion with the Board of Supervisors (BOS). 
 
Lucy Beadnell, Director of Advocacy at The ARC of Northern Virginia, provided an overview 
stating that approximately 15,000 individuals statewide are on the waiting list for the DD 
Medicaid Waiver program administered by the CSBs. Around 3,000 are designated as Priority 
One, indicating they are in an active crisis state and require urgent services. The state 
government has committed to addressing the needs of these Priority One individuals, with plans 
to fund 3,440 Priority One waivers over the next two years. Due to its scale and impact, this 
funding allocation poses significant challenges for the service community, including CSBs. 
 
Additionally, legislative and funding priorities this year emphasize Medicaid Waiver focus, aiming 
to address the broader waiting list beyond Priority One. Delegate Lopez has proposed a study to 
explore providing a program called Core Services to individuals on the waiting list tailored to 
their specific needs rather than assuming extensive services. Other bills focus on increasing 
provider capacity and reimbursement rates to ensure quality care for waiver recipients. 
 
Moreover, concerns arise regarding waiver eligibility criteria, particularly related to income 
thresholds and Social Security benefits. Legislative proposals seek to address these issues by 
introducing flexibility in Medicaid eligibility rules, protecting individuals from losing waivers due 
to changing income circumstances. 
 
Lastly, efforts are underway to restore the flexibility for parents to serve as paid caregivers for 
minor children with waivers, recognizing the valuable support they provide to families and the 
community. This summary outlines the key legislative and funding initiatives in Virginia to 
address the challenges and improve access to services for individuals with disabilities. 
 

7. Northern Virginia Regional Office 

Division Director of NVRPO Sebastian Tezna delivered an overview of the Northern Virginia 
Regional Projects Office (NVRPO). The NVRPO serves as the physical management office for all 
Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services (DBHDS) projects within Region 2. 
Region 2 encompasses the Alexandria CSB, Arlington CSB, Fairfax/Falls Church CSB, Loudoun CSB, 
and Prince William CSB. Sebastian described a reporting structure where he reports to all five 
executives of the CSBs. The regional management group, mandated by DBHDS, is chaired by the 
executive with the longest tenure, the Loudoun County Executive. The remaining four executives 
are voting members, with the Northern Virginia Mental Health Institute director as a non-voting 
member. The Northern Virginia Regional Projects Office serves as the fiscal agent. He further 
explained that there are projects following the regional projects office's fiscal agent. Still, each 
CSB also manages funds for its regional projects and serves as the fiscal agent for its workforce. 
The office's structure includes a division director and three managers overseeing finance and 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.3 



CSB Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes 
February 14, 2024 
Page 4 of 6 
 

 
administration, crisis diversion, and community services. Specialties and support staff, such as 
finance management, Marcus Alert LIPOS (Local Inpatient Purchase of Service) coordination, 
service member and veteran's programs, discharge assistance, peer programs, and training, fall 
under this structure. Sebastian detailed the portfolio of the Regional Office, encompassing 
various funding sources supporting specific programs like LIPOS, the discharge assistance 
program, crisis stabilization units, and projects associated with the System Transformation 
Excellence and Performance (STEP-VA) expansion. The office's role involves facilitating and 
collaborating on regional decision-making, supporting data collection and reporting, advocating 
for regional interests with DBHDS, and organizing various meetings, including the regional 
management group, utilization group, crisis hub, and consortium for evidence-based practices. 
 
Decision-making processes include: 
·      Issuing monthly utilization reports. 
·      Analyzing data trends to identify program utilization. 
·      Compliance with state reporting requirements. 
 
Sebastian emphasized that the regional office is fully grant-funded from state and federal 
sources, and localities do not directly contribute to regional funding. 
 

8. Bridge Program: MAT for Opioid Use Disorder 

Rebecca Sutter, Doctor of Nursing Practice at George Mason University delivered a presentation 
addressing the Opioid Crisis, emphasizing the importance of connectivity and collaboration 
among service providers to remove barriers and provide effective assistance. Highlighting the 
severity of the crisis, particularly among adolescents, she stressed the urgent need for action and 
expressed optimism about ongoing collaborations with Fairfax County. Dr. Sutter outlined her 
psychiatric and family nursing background, emphasizing her focus on implementation and 
translational science to improve outcomes. Addressing the escalating numbers of opioid-related 
incidents, she underscored the prevalence of fentanyl in street drugs and the need for harm 
reduction strategies. Dr. Sutter advocated for evidence-based Medication for Opioid Use 
Disorder (MOUD) as a vital component of treatment and the importance of removing barriers to 
access. She described the French Care Model developed to address gaps in existing support 
systems, focusing on low-barrier access and comprehensive care. Dr. Sutter discussed the 
valuable services offered by the George Mason University and Partners Clinic and emphasized 
the significance of partnerships and collaboration in delivering essential care to communities. 
She detailed the triad partnership model for referrals, efficient access to services, and smooth 
transitions between providers. She also highlighted the clinic's vital role as a safety net within the 
overarching support system, dedicated to assisting individuals and avoiding any gaps in care. 
 

9. Staff Reports 

Deputy Director of Clinical Operations Abbey May discussed the current collaborative 
partnership with the Bridge Program for individuals on Medication for Opioid Use Disorder 
(MOUD) in the correctional facility and the continued efforts to recruit clinicians to enhance the 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.4 



CSB Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes 
February 14, 2024 
Page 5 of 6 
 

 
program. She underscored the substantial population of incarcerated individuals on MOUD and 
stressed the need to broaden clinical services beyond medication to incorporate individual and 
group therapy sessions. 

In relation to the growth of Outpatient Youth Programs, she intends to establish a presence in 
alternative locations through collaborations with local neighborhood and community services. 
The expansion locations include Hybla Valley at the South County Recreation Center and the 
Herndon Resource Center. This is progress toward securing appropriate spaces and forming 
partnerships, as well as continuing efforts to recruit suitable managerial and clinical personnel. 
The goal is to have the programs up and running by the spring season. Lastly, the implementation 
of overnight Mobile Crisis Services at Fairfax CSB will begin to operate two days a week and aim 
to scale up to a seven-day service by April 2024. 

Deputy Director of Clinical Operations Barbara Wadley-Young provided a brief update on the 
DD waivers and a meeting with state representatives, including the Assistant Commissioner and a 
Department of Medical Assistance Services (DMAS) representative, to discuss the logistics of 
issuing 1170 waivers over two years. The State officials were receptive to proposals from support 
coordination teams regarding the pace of implementation and the hiring of approximately 70 
support coordination coordinators. There will be a need for proper planning and coordination to 
ensure readiness when the waivers are allocated. She also discussed capacity building for 
community providers, especially those offering Employment & Day Services. This expansion will 
require significant effort from providers to adapt to the increased demand for services. The state 
supports providers with application submissions and expressed the importance of a 
communication plan to inform community members about the waiver process. Furthermore, 300 
housing certificates are planned for individuals with mental illness through permanent supported 
housing. The Housing Authority anticipates issuing eight monthly certificates beginning in spring, 
with funding available for initial rent payments and furniture. Additionally, funding is allocated 
for Critical Time Intervention specialists to support rapid housing and reduce barriers for 
individuals transitioning from hospitals or transitional residential programs. Pathway Homes 
established a new Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) team in North County, complementing 
existing teams in South and Central County. Half of the 300 housing certificates will be allocated 
to Pathway Homes' ACT program, which provides intensive wrap-around services for individuals 
transitioning from hospitals or higher-intensity programs. Dr Wadley-Young acknowledged the 
challenges ahead but expressed optimism about the planning efforts underway. 

10. Associate Member Reports, Updates and Concerns 

Joe Getch, the Chief Executive Officer of Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services, Inc. (PRS), provided 
updates on the 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline, mentioning a significant increase in call volume on 
December 15, 2023, following the launch of mobile crisis services. Since then, there has been a 
consistent 30% increase in call volume, with an average of approximately 250 contacts per day 
through the 988 lines in Virginia and about 350 contacts per day. This totals around 127,000 
contacts annually for Virginia. Region 2 has been particularly notable as one of the highest 
volume producers on the regional line, managing 2,850 contacts in the first quarter of 3,719. 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.5 



CSB Service Delivery Oversight Committee Meeting Minutes 
February 14, 2024 
Page 6 of 6 
 

 
11. Adjournment 

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Committee Member Daria Akers and seconded by 
Committee Member Sheila Coplan Jonas. The motion was approved unanimously, and the 
meeting was adjourned at 6:52 PM. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
    
 Date Approved Clerk to the Board 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM
#5.6 



LaVurne Williams, Division Director

Youth and Family Services

We Need Your Help!

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.1 



Who We Serve

What We Have 

What We Accomplished

What We Learned

What’s Next

Overview

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.2 



Mental

Counseling, medication, case 
management, Intensive, 
juvenile forensics,  crisis 
response, recovery 
supports,  and other 
services for children and 
youth (and their families) 
with serious mental health 
concerns, emotional 
disturbances,  and 
substance use disorders.

Developmental Disabilities

Services help youth with 
developmental disabilities 
live, work and take part in 
our community.

Substance Use

Treatment, individual, group 
& other recovery supports 
for people with substance 
use disorders. 

WHO WE SERVE

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.3 



4

Outpatient

 Individual therapy
Group therapy
Family therapy

Case management
Psychiatric services

Intensive Services
Resource Team:

Lead (CSA) Case Management 

Hospital Discharges

Leland House

 Residential Services

Intensive Care Coordination Team:

High Fidelity Wrap Around Services

Juvenile Forensic

Crisis management
Consultation

Clinical Evaluations
Court Trainings

Programs & Numbers Served

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.4 



5

Highlights from FY’23
1,935 Youth Served  Across the Division

• 1,540 Youth Outpatient
• 216 Resource Team
• 89 Intensive Care Coordination
• 120 Juvenile Forensics
• 9 % of Youth Referred presented with Opioid Use Disorders

30  Youth Served in YMAT
• 90% Hispanic

66 Public Safety Referrals
• 18 served in Collaboration with NVSF

o 50% Male
o 50% Female

CSB School Based Therapist located in 14 FCPS
•  3 more than FY’22

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.5 



Psychiatric 
Services and 
Medication 

Management

Psychotherapy

Evidence Based 
Practices

Peer Support

Evidence Based 
Practices

Nursing Services

Psychoeducation

Specialized 
Programming

Medication 
Assisted 

Treatment

Community Partners: https://bit.ly/3LxqofK

What

W
e Have

CR2

Support Groups

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.6 

https://bit.ly/3LxqofK


Narcan 
Distribution

JDRDC Direct 
Referral Process

Increased CSB 
Treatment Options 
for Substance Use 

Disorder

Expanded Youth 
Medication 

Assisted 
Treatment

Public Safety 
Referrals

Substance Abuse 
Prevention 
Specialists 
Program

School Based 
Clinician Program 

What We 
Accomplished

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.7 



Send Referral 

to 

 GMU Bridge!

GMU Bridge 

Stabilizes 

Client

CSB Step-down 

and 

Services

STEP I STEP II STEP III

GMU Partnership for 
YMAT Services

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.8 



Early Outcomes &

Successes

Worked with CSA & DPMM to: 

• Expedite Authorization for 
SUD Treatment

• Establish contracts with  new 
SUD providers

• Feedback from one youth 
in residential 
treatment "Youth" thanked 
everyone and said now he 
has something to live for”

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.9 



AGENDA ITEM
#9A.10 



GAPS

Language 
Barriers

Immigration 
Status

Resources

What 
We 

Learned

11

DETOX

RESI

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.11 



12

Community Based Teams

Further YMAT Expansion

Youth Crisis Receiving Center, 
Detox, & Residential Services 

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.12 



Sharon Bulova Center
Emergency Services 
Engagement, Assessment, & Referral (Walk-in)
Residential Assessment Unit
8221 Willow Oaks Corporate Drive
Fairfax, Virginia 22031
703-573-5679
703-383-8500. TTY 711
703-559-3000

Chantilly
14150 Parkeast Circle
Suite 200
Fairfax, Virginia 20151
703-968-4000

Healthy Minds Fairfax 
12011 Government Center Parkway
Fairfax, VA 22035
703-324-7000

Juvenile Forensics
4000 Chain Bridge Road
Fairfax, Virginia 22030

Northwest Community  Health Center
1850 Cameron Glen Drive, Suite 600
Reston,  Virginia 20190
703-481-4100, TTY 703-481-4110

CSB Program Locations

Gerry Hyland
8350 Richmond Highway 
Suite 515
Alexandria, Virginia 22309
703-704-6355, TTY 711

AGENDA ITEM
#9A.13 



Fairfax-Falls Church CSB’s 
Service Oversight Committee

Peter Steinberg, LCSW
Program Manager, Healthy Minds Faifax

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.1 



2

What do we do at Healthy Minds Fairfax?

Increase Access to Mental 
Health/Substance Use Services

• Short Term Behavioral Services

Improve the Quality of those Services

• Fairfax Consortium for Evidenced Based 
Practices

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.2 



3

What else do we do at Healthy Minds Fairfax?
Transitional Age 

Youth Case 
Management 

(JSSA)

Youth Advisory 
Council 
(JSSA)

Family Peer 
Support Partners

(HopeLink)

Family Advisory 
Board

Children’s 
Behavioral Health 

Plan

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.3 



4

What is Short Term Behavioral Health  
Services (STBH)?

• A free service for families, fully funded by Healthy Minds Fairfax

• For referrals from School staff, we serve:
o All FCPS and FCCPS middle schools and high schools 
o 43 FCPS elementary schools (Title I)

• For referrals from the CSB, we serve:
o All children and youth who meet criteria (income and clinical), regardless of school.

• Therapy can be delivered in person or via telehealth

• All providers have knowledge in CBT, trauma-informed care, and risk 
assessment (plus their own specialties)

• All providers are licensed or license eligible

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.4 



5

Snapshot of STBH Referrals : SY22-23

Who Gets ReferredNumber of Referrals

• Average family income is 
$38,000

• 634 referrals received (13% 
from the CSB)

• Can’t Access Services within 2 
Weeks (71%)

• 511 Received at Least One 
Session (80%)

• Hispanic Female (60%)
• Mild/Moderate Mental Health 

Symptoms

• 300 Received 8 or more 
sessions (58%)

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.5 



6

What are the Typical STBH Outcomes?

Symptoms have been reduced

Moderate /Significant Progress at discharge (74%)

Caregiver agreed that symptoms have been reduced (84%)

Further treatment is not recommended (57%)

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.6 



7

What trainings do we offer?

Advances in Prevention, 
Diagnosis, and of Adolescent 

Treatment Use

Competency-Based Clinical 
Supervision

(CBCS)

Core Competency in Cognitive 
Behavioral Therapy

(CC-CBT)

Culturally Responsive Clinical 
Assessment

(CRCA)

Evidenced-Based Treatments 
for Youth Mental Health 
Concerns and Life Saving 

Strategies: A Caregivers Guide

Modular Approach to Therapy 
for Children with Anxiety, 
Depression, Trauma, and 

Conduct Problems
(Match ADTC)

Safe Alternatives for Teens 
and Youth 
(SAFTEY-A)

Tangible Strategies for 
Reducing Burnout and 

Vicarious Trauma –
Components for Enhancing  

Clinical Experiences and 
Reducing Trauma

(CE-CERT)

Trauma Focused Cognitive 
Behavioral Health Therapy

(TF-CBT)

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.7 



8

How many have been trained this year?
7 Trainings offered this year

Offered a training for caregivers for the first time

351 people attended at least 1 training 

85 were from the CSB  

AGENDA ITEM
#9B.8 



 

 

  
 

 
TIP Program 

What is TIP?  
The Transition to Independence Process (TIP) Model® focuses on youth engagement, futures planning, 
and skill-building through a person-centered, strength-based approach. The TIP Model® emphasizes 
youth voice and choice and supports youth and young adults with their transition to adulthood. For more 
information on the TIP Model®, please visit TIPstars.org. 
 
Who does TIP serve?  
TIP operates with minimal exclusionary criteria: Youth and young adults (14-29 years old) living in 
Northern Virginia experiencing transition to adulthood challenges related to emotional/behavioral 
difficulties due to mental health, substance abuse, and/or mild developmental disabilities; and/or 
involvement with agencies such as children’s protective services, juvenile justice, or public assistance, 
and/or youth who are runaway, homeless, or otherwise at risk of transition to adulthood difficulties.  
*PLEASE NOTE: TIP is not appropriate to treat individuals with active opioid use disorders.  
 
What is the goal of TIP?  
TIP operates over a limited period of time, averaging about 18 months, to support the transition to 
adulthood by:  

 Engaging youth and young adults in their own futures planning process.  
 Providing youth with developmentally appropriate, non-stigmatizing, culturally competent, and 

appealing services and supports.  
 Involving youth and their families and other informal key players in a process that prepares and 

facilitates them in their movement toward greater self-sufficiency and successful achievement of 
their goals related to their relevant transition domains.  

 
How does TIP work? 
TIP operates within a team-based approach with four providers serving up to 30 individuals per team: 

 Clinical Supervisor  
 Transition Facilitator, Life Skills Focused  
 Transition Facilitator, Supported Employment/Education Focused 
 Youth Peer Specialist  

 
All providers work with all individuals in complementary roles to support individualized transition 
processes around core transition domains: 

 Employment 
 Education and career development 
 Living situation 
 Personal effectiveness and wellbeing 

o Interpersonal relationships 
o Emotional and behavioral wellbeing 

AGENDA ITEM
#10.1 



 

 

  
 

o Self Determination 
o Communication 
o Physical health and wellbeing 
o Parenting 

 Community-life functioning 
o Daily living skills 
o Leisure activities 
o Community participation 

 
The frequency of visits will be determined by individual needs, but TIP direct services will likely 
average 2 hours per week per individual, more intense than outpatient services but less intense than 
crisis stabilization programs. Services are provided primarily in the community to support building 
independent living skills, and HIPAA-compliant telehealth services are available to enhance access to 
services as needed. 
 
What outcomes can I expect from TIP Services? 
TIP operates as a trauma-informed, strengths-based prevention program with emphasis on evidence-
based measurement of outcomes and compliance to TIP Model® fidelity to maximize outcomes: 

 Increase in positive engagement and goal attainment in selected transition domains 
 Increase in daily living skills functioning and productivity 
 Increase in esteem, resilience, and self-advocacy skills 
 Increase in social and community supports for continued independent community functioning 

through adulthood 
 Decrease in human and financial costs of regular crisis services and treatment 

 
What makes TIP different?  

 Youth-driven, strengths-based, evidence-supported wraparound program with demonstrated 
effectiveness to improve post-secondary outcomes: increased employment and post-secondary 
career education, improved community-life functioning, and reductions in the use of intensive 
mental health services and in incarceration.  

 Hybrid model offers flexibility to meet virtually and/or in the community.  
 Team of providers can support individualized services across several transition areas: 

employment and career, education, living situation, personal effectiveness/wellbeing, and 
community-life functioning.   

 Minimal exclusionary criteria – designed to enhance equitable access to high-quality wraparound 
behavioral health services for individuals in need of community-based support.  

 
 
How do I access TIP services?  
Referral forms are now available! Please scan this QR code or visit the HopeLink Behavioral Health 
website: https://prsinc.org/transition-to-independence-program-tip-referral/  For more information on 
TIP at HopeLink Behavioral Health, please contact us at TIP@hopelinkbh.org.  

AGENDA ITEM
#10.2 



Full Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at
https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=webs22

Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work

ISSN: (Print) (Online) Journal homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/webs22

Evaluation of Outcomes of Youth and Young
Adults Being Served under the Transition to
Independence Process (TIP) Model by a Six Agency
Collaborative

Rhonda Bohs, Tiffany Lawrence & Hewitt B. Rusty Clark

To cite this article: Rhonda Bohs, Tiffany Lawrence & Hewitt B. Rusty Clark (2021): Evaluation
of Outcomes of Youth and Young Adults Being Served under the Transition to Independence
Process (TIP) Model by a Six Agency Collaborative, Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work, DOI:
10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482

To link to this article:  https://doi.org/10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482

Published online: 21 Aug 2021.

Submit your article to this journal 

View related articles 

View Crossmark data

AGENDA ITEM
#10.3 

https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=webs22
https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/webs22
https://www.tandfonline.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482
https://doi.org/10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482
https://www.tandfonline.com/action/authorSubmission?journalCode=webs22&show=instructions
https://www.tandfonline.com/action/authorSubmission?journalCode=webs22&show=instructions
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/mlt/10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/mlt/10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482
http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482&domain=pdf&date_stamp=2021-08-21
http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482&domain=pdf&date_stamp=2021-08-21


Evaluation of Outcomes of Youth and Young Adults Being 
Served under the Transition to Independence Process (TIP) 
Model by a Six Agency Collaborative
Rhonda Bohsa, Tiffany Lawrenceb, and Hewitt B. Rusty Clarkc

aSystem of Care Partners, LLC, USA; bBroward Behavioral Health Coalition, USA; cUniversity of South Florida, 
Tampa, United States

ABSTRACT
Two studies were conducted to evaluate the progress and outcomes 
of youth and young adults with serious mental health conditions 
being served by six agencies using the Transition to Independence 
Process (TIP) Model. The first study presents pre/post outcomes for 
the young people being served and examines some differential out-
comes of gender, race, and diagnoses; and the second study involved 
a comparison between the TIP Model group and a typical case man-
agement group. The young people being served in the TIP Model 
showed improvements in areas of: daily-life functioning, employment, 
education, substance use, and involvement of hospitalization/crisis 
services related to mental health, drug use, and/or criminal justice. 
The comparison study demonstrated that the TIP Model group had 
better outcomes than the case management group. These improved 
outcomes were accomplished under a large county collaborative that 
had implemented the TIP Model and related supportive infrastructure. 
Implications of the finding and future research are discussed.

KEYWORDS 
Transition to adulthood; 
serious mental health 
conditions; outcomes of 
youth and young adults; 
transition to independence 
process (TIP) model; peer 
support specialists

During their transition to adulthood, all youth and young adults face decisions about new 
social situations and responsibilities, future career and educational goals, self-management 
of behavior and substance use, and development and maintenance of supportive and 
intimate relationships (Arnett, 2004). For these emerging adults, this is a period of “dis-
covery.” Young people with serious mental health conditions (SMHCs) are particularly 
challenged during this transition period, and as a group, experience some of the poorest 
secondary school and postsecondary school outcomes among any disability group (H.B. 
Clark & Unruh, 2009; Hodgekins et al., 2015; A. J. Sheidow et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2017).

More specifically, this population of youth and young adults with SMHCs and related 
problems have higher secondary school dropout rates, higher rates of arrest, incarceration, 
substance use, and unemployment, and lower rates of independent living compared to their 
peers without disabilities (Davis et al., 2009; A. J. Sheidow et al., 2012; Klodnick et al., 2020; 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
Services Administration, 2018). According to Wagner and Newman (2012), a large number 
of students with SMHCs drop out of high school annually which is related to lower wages 
(Rouse, 2007), lower employment rates (U.S. Department of Labor, 2010), and poorer 
health (Pleis et al., 2010). Additionally, there are increased costs to society due to dropouts 

CONTACT Rhonda Bohs rhonda@socpartners.net System of Care Partners, LLC

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK    
https://doi.org/10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482

© 2021 Taylor & Francis

AGENDA ITEM
#10.4 

http://www.tandfonline.com
https://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1080/26408066.2021.1948482&domain=pdf&date_stamp=2021-08-18


including an average of 240,000 USD over one’s lifetime related to lost tax contributions, 
reliance on welfare and Medicaid, and involvement in criminality (Belfield & Levin, 2007).

Some of these young adults also live with “chronic trauma.” A groundbreaking epide-
miological study (Adverse Childhood Experiences Study [ACES], Schilling et al., 2007) 
found that childhood trauma is associated with adult onset of chronic disease, as well as life- 
altering social and emotional problems. ACES also found a very strong association between 
childhood adversity and depression, anti-social behaviors and drug use in young adults. 
Trauma that is prolonged, cumulative, and recurrent has a profound impact on developing 
brains. “Because the transition to adulthood is a watershed developmental period, the 
mental health consequences of ACES are likely to have far-reaching impact by disrupting 
the establishment of positive roles and relationships that set the course for adult occupa-
tional and social attainment” (Schilling et al., 2007, p. 7).

Fragmented services and limited access across different programs (e.g., mental health, 
education, vocational rehabilitation, juvenile justice, child welfare, housing) and funding 
mechanisms (e.g., Social Security, state and local appropriations, Medicaid, federal block 
grants) further complicate this transition period for young people with SMHCs and their 
families. For the most part, each of these program components has entirely different 
eligibility requirements, and the child-serving and adult-serving programs often operate 
under different philosophies. Although each program may provide some essential services 
individually, it is often next to impossible for young people, parents, and practitioners to 
navigate across them due to the complexities and fragmentation within and between 
programs/systems (Davis et al., 2009; Hoffman et al., 2009; Klodnick et al., 2020; Pottick 
et al., 2008; Unruh & Clark, 2009). These difficulties in accessing appropriate services and 
the poor outcomes that many of these young people experience may also impact them over 
their entire life in areas such as employability, lower wages, and homelessness (A. J. Sheidow 
et al., 2012; Klodnick et al., 2020; Rouse, 2007; U.S. Department of Labor, 2010) and cost 
society through their lack of productive engagement, minimal tax contributions, and 
reliance on public services, such as Medicaid, welfare, correctional facilities, and emergency 
room services (Belfield & Levin, 2007).

The resulting poor outcomes for these youth and young adults are extremely costly on 
three fronts: (1) the individual and their family; (2) security and comfort of the community; 
and (3) local, state, and federal governmental entities. These “costs” are not just in the form 
of tax dollars and lost productivity, but also the human toll on young people, their families, 
and our society.

Program background

Transition to independence process (TIP) model

The Transition to Independence Process (TIP) Model is a research-supported treatment 
that prepares and supports youth and young adults (Y&YAs; ages 14–29 years old) with 
SMHCs in their transitions into employment/career, educational opportunities, living 
situations, personal effectiveness/wellbeing, and community-life functioning: aka “transi-
tion domains” (H. B. Clark & Hart, 2009; Dresser et al., 2014; Karpur et al., 2005). The TIP 
Model is operationalized through seven principles that transition facilitators (i.e., proactive 
intensive case managers) use in guiding their work with Y&YAs across individually relevant 

2 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.5 



transition domains. The transition facilitators are also trained and coached in effective, 
developmentally appropriate TIP Model core practices to apply with Y&YAs to advance 
their setting of their own goals, achievement of goals, and in the learning of improved skill 
functioning across relevant areas such as daily living, social interactions, emotional regula-
tion, managing high risk behaviors, and problem-solving and decision-making. A transition 
facilitator “partners” with a youth or young adult (Y/YA) to assist them in taking the helm 
and steering their own future (Dresser et al., 2014; Walker, 2015).

Broward behavioral health coalition

The Broward Behavioral Health Coalition, Inc. (BBHC) is the lead organization for the 
coordination of behavioral health services across Broward County, Florida. This county is 
a large metropolitan area that encompasses Fort Lauderdale and had a population of about 
1.9 million people in 2017, with about 228,500 of these being in the 15 to 24 age range. The 
population also had wide racial, ethic, and economic diversity. There were 17 behavioral 
health provider agencies in the county. In about 2012, the BBHC established a Program 
Implementation and Evaluation Committee that was focused on identifying priority needs 
across the county and on planning and recommending areas of expansion that could be 
undertaken in the short term and others that might require additional funding. In 
October 2015 BBHC and Broward County received a SAMHSA System of Care 
Expansion grant1 to further advance its community collaborative for transition to 
adulthood.

Program implementation

BBHC’s program implementation and sustainability efforts were guided by implementation 
literature (Bond et al., 2014; Fixsen et al., 2005). During the years prior to the start of the 
grant project, the national TIP Model consultants were already collaborating with BBHC 
and its six provider agencies to implement the TIP Model. The consultants provided (and 
continued to provide as needed) competency-based training through TIP Model Cross-Site 
Forums and technical assistance to the teams, their agencies, and BBHC personnel. The 
transition facilitators and the supervisory personnel were taught and coached in the 
application of the TIP Model principles and core practices (e.g., In-vivo Teaching, 
SODAS Problem-Solving & Decision-Making method, Prevention Planning for High- 
Risk Behaviors).

Some of the infrastructure that was initiated earlier and continued under the grant was 
building site capacity for maintaining the TIP Model. For example, the TIP Model national 
consultants had already established some certified Site-Based Trainers (SBTs) to assist in the 
implementation of the TIP Model at agencies by providing training to new personnel at 
teams. The SBTs, along with the TIP consultants, also provided TIP Model orientation 
sessions to representatives from other entities (e.g., Juvenile Justice, Child Welfare, school 
district, community college, other provider agencies) across the county. The national TIP 
Model Fidelity Assessors had also conducted fidelity and concurrently mentored a couple 
local individuals who worked at the BBHC and were fully trained in the TIP Model to 
become Regional Fidelity Assessors. Once they were certified, they contributed to the ability 

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 3

AGENDA ITEM
#10.6 



of the system to provide fidelity reviews and ongoing quality improvement (Dresser et al., 
2014: Walker & Baird, 2018).

The grant also positioned the BBHC and its provider agencies with “shovel-ready 
features” to implement once the grant was secured. An example of a “shovel-ready 
feature” that was undertaken at the start of the grant was the implementation of sup-
ported employment teams at two other provider agencies. Supported employment used 
the IPS approach (individual placement and support) and established two small IPS 
teams, both composed of a supervisor and two IPS practitioners. All of the IPS team 
members were trained and certified in this approach and were also oriented to the TIP 
Model. Similarly, the personnel on the six TIP Model team were oriented to the IPS 
approach. Also, if a transition facilitator referred a Y/YA to an IPS team, the transition 
facilitator remained as the “primary” facilitator for the Y/YA and would meet with the IPS 
specialist and the Y/YA each week for planning and coordinating services. However, the 
availability of the 4 IPS personnel was limited in that young adult and adult referrals were 
coming in from all 17 provider agencies.

Purpose of the evaluation project

In March 2016, an evaluation was begun to examine the progress and outcomes of the 
Y&YAs being served by the transition teams at the six provider agencies that had imple-
mented the TIP Model as the primary practice approach for their services. At the time of the 
evaluation, each of the teams were composed of 4–6 transition facilitators and 1–2 peer 
wellness specialists – all of whom were trained and mentored in the application of the TIP 
Model and its principles and practices for engaging and collaborating with the Y&YAs.

The first study provides quantitative analyses on the progress and outcomes for the 
Y&YAs and also some sub-analyses focused on gender, race, and diagnoses. A second study 
provides a comparison study between a sample of Y&YAs being served by the TIP Model 
teams and a similar sample receiving traditional case management services.

Study 1: Outcomes from TIP model intervention

Although the TIP Model has been shown to improve the progress and outcomes of Y&YAs 
at different sites (Dresser et al., 2014; Karpur et al., 2005; Klodnick et al., 2020), this current 
research involved examining outcomes for the Y&YAs being served by transition teams at 
six different provider agencies within a large TIP Model county collaborative. Another 
aspect of this study was to examine the outcomes over different episodes of exposure to the 
TIP Model. It is important to examine if an intervention is as effective with short verse long 
exposure in order to reach more young people since most transition programs have limited 
capacity at any given time (Davis, Sheidow, et al., 2015). Also, there is growing evidence that 
the progression toward adulthood roles varies by gender, racial/ethnicity, and diagnoses 
(Armstrong et al., 2003; Newman et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 2006). Some researchers (e.g., 
Haber et al., 2008a; Lyons & Melton, 2005) have suggested that there is a need to examine if 
transition programs are being equally effective in serving Y&YAs irrespective of their 
gender, ethnic/racial, diagnostic characteristics or experiential backgrounds (e.g., criminal 
involvement, substance use).

4 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.7 



Study 1 involved conducting secondary analyses on the de-identified data from the 
original grant project so as to systematically examine the following research questions:

(1) Did the Y&YAs improve on the outcomes during their exposure to the TIP Model 
program?

(2) Was greater improvement associated with the longer exposure to the program?
(3) Were there gender, racial, and/or diagnostic differences associated with improve-

ments across the outcomes?

Methods

The findings presented in this article are from secondary analyses that were systematically 
conducted on the datasets originally collected under this SAMHSA grant project. The first 
author of this article was the lead evaluator for the original grant project, and managed and 
conducted the secondary analyses for this article. The second author was the project 
director for the original grant. The datasets from this project were stored in a de- 
identified format and coded so that no individual identifiers were evident. All of the analyses 
for Study 1 and 2 were conducted using the SPSS software system. The Evaluation Plans for 
Study 1 and 2 were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the IntegReview IRB 
under its Education/Social/Behavior Research section. The datasets for these studies can be 
made available to qualified researchers by contacting the correspondence author.

The examination of the Y&YAs’ progress and outcomes were analyzed in three different 
ways to provide an understanding of how the Y&YAs were progressing over time from their 
shorter exposure to the program (pre-treatment assessment to their 6-month assessment) to 
longer exposures to the program (pre-treatment assessment to their 12-month assessment 
or to their discharge assessment). The number of Y&YAs included in each of these analyses 
varied but was always based on ensuring that those who participated in each reassessment 
(i.e., 6, 12, and discharge) were compared to their own pre-treatment assessment.

Participants

Participation in the original project was voluntary and no services were withheld if a Y/YA 
chose not to participate (or in the case an individual under 18 years of age, their parents 
chose not to allow participation). Between April 2016 and June 2019, 200 Y&YAs had 
completed the consent form and a pre-treatment assessment to participate in the original 
project. The pre-treatment assessment interview and other information from the intake and 
referral records for these Y&YAs revealed that these individuals had mental health diag-
noses, as well as having histories that pose severe risk from associated problems. For 
example, 47% of the Y&YAs reported a history of trauma or abuse, 38% substance abuse, 
33% had attempted suicide, 31% had involvement in the criminal justice system, 25% Child 
Welfare involvement, and 52% of the Y&YAs at intake reported a need for better housing 
and 45% for employment. Some additional risk factors were: 9% having had histories of out- 
of-home placements (e.g., group shelter care, group home or other residential facilities); 
24% had been homeless sometime within the past year; 12% were in correctional placements 
within the past year; 11% were discharged directly from a crisis unit or residential facility to 

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 5

AGENDA ITEM
#10.8 



this community-based program; and 30% reported attempting suicide in their lifetime. 
About 8% of the Y&YAs were either pregnant or parenting children.

There were 143 of these Y&YAs who completed the 6-month interview. Of these, nine 
were dropped from the study due to limited exposure to the intervention related to: (1) no 
contact; (2) moved out of the area shortly after enrollment; or (3) as with 1 of the youth, he 
was adjudicated to the adult criminal system just after enrollment and later sent to prison. 
Thus, the 6-month analysis compared 134 Y&YAs between their pre-treatment and their 
6-month assessments. Table 1 shows the number of Y&YAs who are included in this 
analysis (i.e., pre-treatment to 6-month assessment) and the next two analyses (i.e., pre- 
treatment to 12-month, pre-treatment to discharge). Most of these Y&YAs in each of these 
three samples are the same individuals, except for those who: (1) discharged prior to the 6 or 
12-month assessments; (2) could not be secured for an assessment (e.g., difficulty schedul-
ing a Y/YA, no showed, or refused); (3) moved out of the area; or (4) missed the window of 
opportunity for a particular assessment (under SAMHSA guidelines a 6 or 12-month 
assessment had to occur in the designated month or the month prior or after such).

Some of the characteristics (gender, race, age distribution, diagnoses) of the Y&YAs 
composing each of these samples are provided in Table 1. For example, the second major 
column provides the percentages of the 134 Y&YAs with different characteristics in the 
sample analyzed for the 6-month assessment (i.e., their pre-treatment to 6-month reassess-
ment). As this table shows 44% self-identified as female, 44% as male, and 12% transgender. 
In addition to this gender designation, 31% self-identified as also being LGBQ. Note that 
gender (i.e., female, male, transgender) percentages total 100% for each of the assessment 
samples (three columns on the right side of the table). Again examining the 134 Y&YAs’ 
sample for the 6-month analyses, the race distributions were 54% Black, 30% Hispanic, 36% 
White, and relatively small percentages reporting Native American, Pacific Islander, Asian, 
and Other. Due to this being a self-identifying listing for race and ethnicity, many Y&YAs 
selected more than one category, thus the sums within each of the three assessment columns 
exceeds 100%.

The age of each Y/YA was determined based on their birthdate at the time of the 
pre-treatment assessment. The age range at entry to the study was from 16 to 23 years 
of age. The distribution across some age categories are shown on Table 1. Some 
diagnosis information for each Y/YA was provided by the provider agency after an 
individual was enrolled into the study. Some of these diagnoses were primary and/or 
secondary for the Y&YAs, thus the sums for each of the samples exceeds 100%. The 
largest percentages of the Y&YAs have diagnostic labels in the following categories: 
Depressive Disorders, Bipolar & Related Depression, ADHD, Substance Use/Addition, 
and Schizophrenic/Psychotic conditions. Since most of the Y&YAs in each of the three 
samples are the same individuals, the distribution across gender, race, age, and 
diagnoses is reasonably consistent.

Data collection and analysis on youth and young adult outcomes

Under the original grant, pre-treatment information regarding each Y/YA was gather from 
the agencies’ electronic health records, intake/referral records, and collected by interviewers 
using the National Outcomes Measures (NOMs) protocol. The NOMs was developed by 
SAMHSA for use by local and national evaluators associated with its grants and contracts 

6 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.9 



related to child projects. The NOMs interview took, on average, about 1½ to 2 hours with 
each Y/YA. All data were coded with individual IDs to ensure that the confidentiality of the 
Y&YAs was protected, and only aggregated data were used for reporting findings.

The pre-treatment assessment and the other NOMs reassessment interviews covered 
the follow topics: personal functioning, stability in housing, education, crime and 
criminal justice status, and social connectedness. Many of these topics were composed 
of multiple questions with multiple-choice response categories or yes/no options; or 
statements with 5-point Likert-scales (e.g., strongly disagree, disagree, undecided, 
agree, strongly agree – along with the option of refused to answer). Each question 
or statement was to be answered based on the past 30 days (i.e., the 30-day period 

Table 1. Sample size and characteristics for three analyses of outcomes for the Y&YAs.

Sample Size and Characteristics

Analyses from Pre-Tx to the Reassessment 
Listed Below

6-Month 12-Month Discharge

Sample Size for Each of the Analysis = 134 100 97
Gender & Y/YA’s Sexual Identity i Female 44% 43% 47%

Male 44% 47% 42%
Transgender 12% 10% 11%

LGBQ i 31% 29% 26%
Racial Label from Y/YA’s Report at Pre-Tx ii Black or African American 54% 52% 60%

Hispanic or Latino 30% 27% 29%

White 36% 32% 31%
Native American 9% 7% 7%

Pacific Islander 5% 6% 6%
Asian 8% 7% 3%

Other 1% 1% 1%
Age at 
Pre-Tx Assessment

Youth 14 through 17 yrs. 25% 20% 20%
YAs 18 through 20 yrs. 66% 66% 70%

YAs 21 through 23 yrs. 9% 14% 10%
Some 
Diagnostic iii 

Categories 
(Include primary &/or secondary 
diagnoses)

Depressive Disorders 46% 45% 42%

Bipolar & Related 23% 20% 18%
ADHD 22% 20% 19%

Substance Use/Addition 14% 14% 10%
Schizophrenic/Psychotic 16% 16% 16%
Conduct/Impulsive 9% 6% 5%

Trauma/Stress Related 11% 10% 8%
Anxiety 10% 6% 6%

Oppositional Defiant 6% 5% 6%
Gender Dysphoria 9% 7% 6%

Other 5% 5% 5%

Notes. 
aDuring the Pre-treatment assessment (Pre-Tx), a Y/YA was asked to report their gender (i.e., female, male, transgender). The 

three gender identifications total 100% for the samples for each reassessment (R). The LGBQ percentage is based on the 
Y&YAs who reported this sexual orientation at the Pre-treatment assessment. 

iiAt the Pre-treatment assessment, each Y/YA was asked to report on their identified racial categories. Due to this self- 
reporting, many Y&YAs selected more than one category, thus the sums in each of the three assessment columns exceeds 
100%. 

iiiDiagnosis categories for each Y/YA was provided by the provider agency after a Y/YA was enrolled into the study. Some of 
these were primary and/or secondary for the Y&YAs, thus the sums for each of the samples (three reassessment columns) 
exceeds 100%.

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 7

AGENDA ITEM
#10.10 



prior to the pre-treatment assessment, the 30-day period prior to a reassessment 
interview).

Based on the BBHC’s grant logic model, the evaluators, in conjunction with some 
adult and Y&YA members of the Program Implementation and Evaluation 
Committee, established criterion for each of the outcome indicators. For example, 
the “social connectiveness” topic was composed of four separate statements: (1) 
I know people who will listen and understand me when I need to talk; (2) I have 
people that I am comfortable talking with about my problems; (3) In a crisis, I would 
have the support I need from family or friends; and (4) I have people with whom 
I can do enjoyable things. The criterion for meeting a positive level of social 
connectiveness required that a Y/YA reported that they agree or strongly agree to 
each of the four statements.

The Committee had also targeted some housing problems that faced Y&YAs in the 
county. Thus, in the grant’s logic model, decreasing homelessness and increasing access to 
independent living (i.e., YAs able to live in their own leased apartments they rented in 
complexes throughout the county) were established as project goals and measured through 
the NOMs. Another example of an outcome indicator that was analyzed was “Criminal/ 
MH/Drug Crisis Use” which was composed of four questions asking for the number of 
nights spent in any of the following settings in the past 30 days: (1) Nights have you been 
homeless? (2) Nights have you spent in a hospital for mental health care? (3) Nights have 
you spent in a facility for drug detox/inpatient or residential substance abuse treatment? and 
(4) Nights you have spent in a correctional facility, including juvenile detention, jail, or 
prison? The criterion for a Y/YA being listed as involved with these types of expenses service 
facilities was reporting at least one night in the past 30 nights to any one of the four 
questions.

Two hallmark variables related to the transition to adulthood are employment (paid 
work in a competitive employment setting) and education (attending secondary school, 
college, and/or a technical or trade school). These two variables were analyzed from 
a database that the national evaluation team for SAMHSA had collected in conjunction 
with grant projects. The number of the Y&YAs included in these analyses from this BBHC 
sample were: 105 for the 6-month assessment; 88 for 12-month assessment; and 78 for the 
discharge comparison.

The hypotheses for this study stated a direction for the change related to each of the 
outcome variables. Because the hypotheses were directional and the sample sizes were 
relatively small, the hypotheses were statistically tested using Chi-Square Tests with the 
Fisher’s Exact Test (1-sided).

Results

Discharge analysis

The findings are presented across each of the three reassessment periods, starting with the 
analysis for the 97 Y&YAs for whom a discharge assessment was secured. These discharges 
occurred between their fifth month of their services to their 18th month. Although this 
“last” assessment is referred to as “discharge,” many of the 97 Y&YAs continued on with 
their services after closure of the grant project period.

8 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.11 



Figure 1 provides progress and outcome findings for the 97 Y&YAs from their pre- 
treatment assessment to their discharge reassessment. The gray bar of each pair shows the 
percentage of Y&YAs who were involved in this outcome and the black bar the percentage 
of them involved at their discharge. For each of these outcome indicators the arrow at the 
end of the label for each pair of bars shows the hypothesized direction of change and then 
a symbol indicates the level of statistical significance of the change.

As is evident from Figure 1, all of the outcomes showed change in the hypothesized 
direction and the proportion of Y&YAs increasing or decreasing on each variable was found 
to be statistically significant, with 8 of the 9 variables being significant at the p ≤ .01 level and 
1 at the p ≤ .05 level (i.e., tobacco use). More specifically, the first variable is the engagement 
of Y&YAs in employment in a paid competitive job setting. At pre-treatment, only 23% of 

Figure 1. The Percentage of Y&YAs for Each Outcome at Pre-Treatment Assessment (gray bars) and 
Discharge Assessment (black bars).

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 9

AGENDA ITEM
#10.12 



the Y&YAs were employed whereas, their discharge reassessment showed that 56% of 
Y&YAs were employed, with this change being in the predicted direction and significant 
at p ≤ .01. Another marker for emerging adults is that of education (attending secondary 
school, college, technical or trade school). At pre-treatment 41% of the Y&YAs were in 
schooling and this increased to 65% at discharge, with this change being in the predicted 
direction and significant at p ≤ .01.

As can also be seen on Figure 1, the percent of Y&YAs living in their own leased 
apartments increased from 10% to 28% (p ≤ .01) and the proportion of individuals 
experiencing homelessness in the past 30 days decreased from a pre-treatment of 7% to 
no homelessness at the discharge reassessment (p ≤ .01). The findings on social connec-
tiveness show that only 16% of the Y&YAs met the criterion at pre-treatment, whereas this 
was increased to 60% at discharge, which was found to be a statistically significant change 
at p ≤ .01.

This figure also shows that the use of tobacco products, alcohol, and non-prescription 
drugs decreased as was hypothesized with changes significant at p ≤ .05, p ≤ .01, and p ≤ .01, 
respectively. The Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Use indicator included involvement in deten-
tion/jail/arrests, mental health in-patient residential, hospitalization, or crisis placements, 
and/or placement in a detox unit and was shown to decrease from 18% of the Y&YAs 
reporting this at pre-treatment to only 4% at their discharge. This reduction in use of 
expensive, restrictive facility use was in the predicted direction and significant at p ≤ .01.

Comparison of outcomes at shorter and longer term exposure to the program

In order to examine the progress of Y&YAs at shorter and longer exposure to the inter-
vention, outcomes for the samples at the 6 and 12-month assessments were compared (see 
Table 1 for a description of these samples). The percentages of Y&YAs reporting on each of 
the outcome variables for these two reassessments with their respective pre-treatment 
assessments are shown in the center columns of Table 2, along with the statistical signifi-
cance levels achieved. For example, the seventh variable listed is “Social Connectiveness.” 
The hypothesis for this outcome was that the proportion of Y&YAs reporting valued social 
connections would increase from their pre-treatment to their later reassessments. As is 
shown in Table 2, the percent of Y&YAs reporting social connectiveness increased for both 
the 6 and 12-month assessments, from 13% to 51% and 17% to 69%, respectively. Both of 
these changes were found to be significant at p ≤ .01 (**).

A review of the 6-month and 12-month columns across the nine outcome variables on 
the top rows of Table 2 shows that all of the changes were in the hypothesized direction (I = 
increase, D = decrease). Of these nine tests of significance at the 6-month reassessment, six 
were significant at the p ≤ .01, 2 at the p ≤ .05 level, and 1 not significant; whereas at the 12- 
month reassessment 8 of the 9 analyses were significant at the p ≤ .01 level and the other 1 at 
the p ≤ .05 level. Table 2 also shows the findings for the discharge reassessment that were 
presented previously in Figure 1. The inclusion of these discharge findings here provides 
a complete summary of the findings for all three of the reassessments. Notice that for the 
discharge reassessment, 8 of the 9 tests were significant at the p ≤ .01 level and the other 1 at 
the p ≤ .05 level.

An indicator of serious distress by the Y&YAs is their thinking about suicide or 
attempting suicide over the past 6 months. These two questions were not asked at the pre- 

10 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.13 



treatment assessment, however, were asked at the 6 and 12-month assessments and also at 
the discharge. Thus the Y&YA’s report on the 6-month assessment was used as the “pre- 
treatment assessment” for the analyses at the 12-month and discharge reassessments. 
Seventy-one Y&YAs were included in the analysis for the 12-month assessment (comparing 
6-month “pre-treatment” to 12-month assessment) and 70 Y&YAs for the discharge 
(comparing 6-month “pre-treatment” to discharge). As can be seen in the bottom two 
rows on Table 2, all four of these analyses yielded changes in the predicted direction and 
were statistically significant.

Outcomes related to characteristics of Y&YAs

Using the discharge sample of 97, some of the outcome indicators were examined as 
associated with gender, race, and a prevalent category of diagnoses. Due to the small sample 
sizes when conducting analyses on a subgroup of the 97 Y&YAs, only a few characteristic 
variables of these Y&YAs were analyzed, i.e., female, male, Black, and those with depres-
sion-related disorders (refer to Table 1, top 2 rows under “Some Diagnostic Categories”). 
Each of these subgroups with these characteristics were analyzed for their outcomes using 
the same approach as previously described (Chi-Square Test with the Fisher’s Exact Test 
1-sided).

The outcome findings for the females and males from pre-treatment assessment to 
discharge are shown in Table 3 along with a comparison of the previously shown findings 
for all 97 Y&YAs in the total discharge sample. As can be seen in Table 3, all of the findings 

Table 2. Percentage of Y&YAs for each outcomes at the pre-treatment assessment and the associated 
reassessment.

Findings Pre-Tx (P) to Reassessment (R)

Outcomes & Hypothesis Direction i (Increase = I or Decrease = D) i 6-Month 12-Month Discharge

Outcome Indicators Hyp. i P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii

Employed in Competitive Work I 31 57 ** 28 57 ** 23 56 **
Attending HS, College, Voc/Tech I 49 70 ** 46 68 ** 41 65 **

Independent Living Apt (YA leasing apt.) I 8 22 ** 10 31 ** 10 28 **
Homelessness D 8 4 NS 10 3 * 7 0 **

Social Connectiveness I 13 51 ** 17 69 ** 16 60 **
Tobacco Use D 22 12 * 29 4 ** 17 6 *

Alcohol Use D 27 15 * 31 5 ** 28 6 **
Illicit Drug Use D 28 13 ** 36 13 ** 32 12 **

Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Useiii D 19 6 ** 15 3 ** 18 4 **
Suicide Ideation (past 6 months) iiii D 31 16 * 30 1 **
Suicide Attempt (past 6 months) iiii D 13 1 ** 11 0 **

Notes. 
iThe hypotheses for this study stated a direction of change related to each of the outcome variables. The hypothesized 

direction of change is listed in the second column as increase (I) or decrease (D). 
iiSince a direction of change was included for each hypothesis and the sample sizes were relatively small, the Fisher’s Exact 

Test (1-sided) was used. The level of statistical significance of the change is shown by the following symbols: ** refers to 
p ≤ .01; * refers to p ≤ .05; and NS to “not significant.” 

iiiThe “Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Use” indicator category included involvement in: detention/jail/arrests, mental health in- 
patient residential, hospitalization, or crisis placements, and/or placement in a detox unit. 

iiiiThe Suicide Ideation and Attempt questions were not asked at the initial assessment, so the 6-month assessment report 
was used as the “Pre-treatment assessment” for the 12-month and discharge reassessments.

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 11

AGENDA ITEM
#10.14 



suggest improvement in the direction hypothesized and the majority of the changes were 
statistically significant, however, neither subgroup achieved as consistently high levels of 
statistical results as the full discharge sample of 97.

Table 4 shows the outcome findings for the subgroup of Blacks and a subgroup of Y&YAs 
with depression-related disorders. The findings for both of these two subgroups are similar 
to the gender subgroups, showing that all of the outcomes changed in the hypothesized 
direction, but the statistical significance was not always as strong as that for the full 
discharge sample.

Discussion

These results show improvements across all of the transition outcomes tracked for 
the Y&YAs being served across the six TIP Model teams. The Y&YAs showed 
improvements in their outcomes over time with: (1) increases in the proportion of 
them being more socially connected, employed, attending schooling (secondary, 
college, and/or vocational or technical training), and securing independent living 
in an apartment; and (2) decreases in the proportion of them experiencing such 
things as homelessness and other restrictive and expensive residential, incarceration, 
and crisis services. The findings for early and longer exposure to the intervention 
supports and services suggest that the 12-month assessment yield slightly better 
results than found at the 6-month assessment. More specifically, Table 2 shows 
that at the 12-month reassessment all of the outcome indicators were found to be 
statistically significant changes and at 6-month one of these was not significant. The 
increased improvement on outcomes over longer exposure to the intervention has 

Table 3. Outcomes for gender subgroups compared to outcomes for All 97 Y&YAs – pre-treatment 
assessment to discharge reassessment.

Outcomes & Hypothesis Direction i Findings Pre-Tx (P) to Discharge Reassess (A)
(Increase = I or Decrease = D) i Females Males All Y&YAs

Outcome Indicators Hyp. i P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii

Employed in Competitive Work I 19 60 ** 19 47 * 23 56 **

Attending HS, College, Voc/Tech I 41 62 * 38 66 * 41 65 **
Independent Living Apt (YA leasing apt.) I 11 37 ** 2 17 * 10 28 **

Homelessness D 2 0 NS 15 0 * 7 0 **
Social Connectiveness I 22 67 ** 15 61 ** 16 60 **

Tobacco Use D 11 7 NS 20 7 NS 17 6 *
Alcohol Use D 35 9 ** 20 2 * 28 6 **
Illicit Drug Use D 41 13 ** 24 12 NS 32 12 **

Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Useiii D 17 4 * 20 5 * 18 4 **

Notes. 
iThe hypotheses for this study stated a direction of change related to each of the outcome variables. The hypothesized 

direction of change is listed in the second column as increase (I) or decrease (D). 
iiSince a direction of change was included for each hypothesis and the sample sizes were relatively small, the Fisher’s Exact 

Test (1-sided) was used. The level of statistical significance of the change is shown by the following symbols: ** refers to 
p ≤ .01; * refers to p ≤ .05; and NS to “not significant.” 

iiiThe “Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Use” indicator category included involvement in: detention/jail/arrests, mental health in- 
patient residential, hospitalization, or crisis placements, and/or placement in a detox unit.

12 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.15 



also been reported in another study using the TIP Model as its foundational practice 
(Klodnick et al., 2020).

To better understand the impact of the TIP Model on Y&YAs with some different 
characteristics, sub-analyses were conducted on some gender, race, and diagnoses char-
acteristics for the Y&YAs in this study. These sub-analyses were limited due to having to 
select only a few characteristics with a reasonably large number of Y&YAs so as to enable 
a descriptive statistical analysis to be conducted. It is interesting to note that a substantially 
larger proportion of females achieved employment and their own apartments than did the 
males (Table 3). Black Y&YAs showed substantial increases in employment, education, and 
living in their own apartments (Table 4). As interesting as these variations in progress on 
different outcomes might be, the observation that is most impressive is that each of these 
subgroups showed statistically significant improvement on all but one or two of the 
outcomes.

Two of the major limitations of this study are that it was based on self-report by the 
Y&YAs and that there was not a comparison group or randomized control group. The 
SAMHSA NOMs instrument has been used extensively for hundreds of grants, yet there is 
no national database of other transition programs to access and compare one’s findings to 
or to use as a sample “typical services” comparison group. Another limitation of this study is 
that most of the NOMs items only cover the past 30 days, thus the analyses do not allow an 
examination of the length of time consistently employed or in residential treatment, or the 
number of crisis episodes over the past 6 months. Asking about just the past 30 days 
probably minimizes the number of Y&YAs who would be counted on a given positive or 
negative outcome indicator. This may have led to some of the lower percentages of Y&YAs, 
which for some analyses creates a “floor effect” (i.e., not being able to reduce the percentage 

Table 4. Outcomes for race subgroup and depressive disorders subgroup compared to outcomes for All 
97 Y&YAs – pre-treatment assessment to discharge reassessment.

Outcomes & Hypothesis Direction i Findings Pre-Tx (P) to Discharge Reassess (R)
(Increase = I or Decrease = D) i Blacks Y&YAs with Depression All Y&YAs

Outcome Indicators Hyp. i P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii P % R % p≤ ii

Employed in Competitive Work I 21 59 ** 26 54 ** 23 56 **

Attending HS, College, or Trade I 40 70 * 44 65 * 41 65 **
Independent Living Apt (YA leasing apt.) I 14 33 * 10 35 ** 10 28 **

Homelessness D 7 0 NS 4 0 NS 7 0 **
Social Connectiveness I 19 58 ** 14 60 ** 16 60 **

Tobacco Use D 11 4 NS 19 2 ** 17 6 *
Alcohol Use D 32 9 * 25 8 * 28 6 **
Illicit Drug Use D 35 14 ** 31 12 * 32 12 **

Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Useii D 20 5 * 19 2 * 18 4 **

Notes. 
iThe hypotheses for this study stated a direction of change related to each of the outcome variables. The hypothesized 

direction of change is listed in the second column as increase (I) or decrease (D). 
iiSince a direction of change was included for each hypothesis and the sample sizes were relatively small, the Fisher’s Exact 

Test (1-sided) was used. The level of statistical significance of the change is shown by the following symbols: ** refers to 
p ≤ .01; * refers to p ≤ .05; and NS to “not significant.” 

iiiThe “Criminal/MH/Drug Crisis Use” indicator category included involvement in: detention/jail/arrests, mental health in- 
patient residential, hospitalization, or crisis placements, and/or placement in a detox unit.

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 13

AGENDA ITEM
#10.16 



sufficiently to be statistically significant, e.g., homelessness at 6-month assessment on Table 
2). These types of limitations and the fact that no follow-along data were collected after the 
Y&YAs left the program limits any assessment on the extent to which these improvements 
were consistent over extended periods and maintained into the future for these Y&YAs.

The current findings from the BBHC large county collaborative are particularly signifi-
cant in demonstrating the application of the TIP Model by teams at six agencies and their 
impact on the Y&YAs being served (Walrath et al., 2008). Every outcome showed the 
proportion of Y&YAs changed in the hypothesized direction of change and over 93% of the 
56 analyses were found to be statistically significant for the comparisons across the length of 
exposure analysis (Table 2) and the subgroup analyses regarding gender, race, and diag-
noses (Tables 3 and 4). Other studies have shown the TIP Model to be effective in improving 
the outcomes of the Y&YAs being served by a given team in a community (Dresser et al., 
2014; Haber et al., 2008b; Karpur et al., 2005; Klodnick et al., 2020), however, none of these 
involved multiple-provider agencies under a large county collaborative.

Study 2: TIP Model and comparison group study

The research on transition to adulthood for Y&YAs with SMHCs is still in its infancy with 
several best practice models being described and evaluated (e.g., Multisystemic Therapy for 
Emerging Adults, Transition to Independence Process Model). Only a couple random 
assignment studies have been conducted, and although they showed some encouraging 
findings, they involved different populations of Y&YAs and had relatively small sample sizes 
(Geenen et al., 2015; Valentine et al., 2018). Therefore, the field is still benefiting from 
various levels of evaluation research to further refine and assess the impact of promising 
practices (Davis, Sheidow, et al., 2015; A.J. Sheidow et al., 2016).

This current comparison study examined the differences in how the Y&YAs were being 
impacted by typical case management services within Broward County in contrast to the 
supports and interventions provided by the TIP Model teams. This study, like Study 1, 
involved a secondary analysis of progress and outcome indicators that were secured during 
the grant project. The primary research question for this study was: Did Y&YAs make 
greater improvements on their outcomes if they were in the TIP Model group verses the 
case management group?

Methods

Participants and experimental design

A cohort of Y&YAs enrolled in services with BBHC TIP Model teams between January and 
June of 2018 were selected for the outcome comparison evaluation. This resulted in 
a sample size of 29 TIP Y&YAs. On a retrospective basis, 29 Y&YAs who entered services 
during this same period under other BBHC agencies using typical case management 
services (“treatment as usual”; TAU) were identified within the BBHC database. These 29 
Y&YAs for the TAU group were selected from Y&YAs who met the same eligibility criteria 
as the TIP group; with them ranging from 16 to 23 years of age, had SMHCs, and were at 
risk of, or have had extensive histories of, out of home placements, co-occurring substance 

14 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.17 



use (e.g., Cannabis Dependence, polysubstance dependence), developmental trauma, and/ 
or multiple-system involvement (e.g., Child Welfare and criminal justice involvement).

The TIP group and a TAU group provided for a group comparison design study which 
examined outcomes over the 12 months from June 2018 to June 2019. Since the selection 
process of the TAU Y&YAs did not require matching to the specific ages of the TIP Y&YAs, 
except for being in the age range of the TIP group, there were some differences in the 
demographic characteristics of the two groups. Of the 29 Y&YAs in both groups, 26 in the 
TAU group were 18 years or over at the time of their admission, as compared to 22 in the 
TIP group. The self-identified race and ethnicity categories of the Y&YAs between the two 
groups were consistent across two of the categories; where the TAU group had 13 Blacks 
and 6 Hispanics and the TIP group had 11 Blacks and 6 Hispanics. Beyond these two 
ethnicity/racial categories there was no consistency (e.g., Hispanic and White categories 
were both checked by some Y&YAs).

Data collection

Data for this study was secured for both groups from the BBHC data system and focused on 
the status of the Y&YAs at the end of the 12-month period. The following types of variables 
were available for both groups: employment (working in a paid competitive job setting), 
education (attending secondary school, college, technical or trade school), living situation, 
and homelessness.

The transition facilitators were applying the TIP Model and tailoring the supports and 
services to the interests, needs, and goals of the Y&YAs’ relevant transition domains – as 
was described in the introduction to this article. In the TAU group, case managers served 
the Y&YAs with a primarily focus on mental health and substance abuse treatment through 
referrals to services within their agency and to other entities (e.g., housing, career center, 
supported employment, vocational rehabilitation) to address other needs.

Results

Figure 2 shows the percentage of progress by the Y&YAs in the TAU group and the TIP 
group across each of the markers. The gray bar of each pair is for the TAU group and the 
black bar the TIP group. For each of these outcome indicators, the arrow at the end of the 
label for each pair of bars shows the hypothesized direction for the TIP group over the TAU 
group and the statistical significance of the difference between the two groups is shown by 
the symbols described on the figure.

As illustrated in Figure 2, a significantly larger percentage of the TIP Y&YAs achieved 
employment as part of their program participation. Additionally, slightly more of the TIP 
group were in school or training programs. Employment and education represent two very 
important markers of transition to adulthood; and as is shown in the third pair of bars on 
Figure 2, the “productive engagement” indicator of “employed and/or in school/training” 
shows that only 38% of the TAU group met this combined marker at the 12 month point in 
contrast to 69% of the Y&YAs in the TIP Model group. Although the difference between the 
groups on the employment variable and the employment/education variable were statistical 
significance (p ≤ .05, and p ≤ .01, respectively), the difference in attending school/training 
was not significant.

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 15

AGENDA ITEM
#10.18 



Related to living in home-type settings (e.g., independent apartment, supported living 
apartment, living with family of origin or relatives) at the end of this 12-month comparison, 
62% of the TAU group achieved this marker in contrast to 97% of the TIP Model group. 
Fourteen percent of the TAU group were homeless at this 12-month point versus none of 
the TIP group were homeless. The home-type living setting finding was statistically sig-
nificant at p ≤ .01, however, the homelessness differences were not significant between the 
two groups.

Discussion

The TIP Model was shown to have better outcomes in this preliminary comparison study 
than those achieved under the TAU case management approach after each group had at 

Figure 2. Comparison Study Findings for the Treatment as Usual (TAU) Group and the TIP Model Group.

16 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.19 



least 12 months of exposure to their service array. The statistical significance of the findings 
related to the higher percentage of the TIP group being employment is particularly 
impressive given that 90% of the TAU group were 18 years or over at the time of their 
admission, as compared to 76% of the TIP group. For each of the variables analyzed and 
presented in Figure 2, all of the percentages showed greater progress by the TIP group in 
contrast to the TAU group, with 3 of the 5 differences on the variables being found to be 
statistically significant.

This comparison study has three major limitations including: (1) involved only a relatively 
small number of participants; (2) the groups were not established by random assignment of 
the Y&YAs; and (3) the comparison was across a relatively small number of outcomes.

One of the previous studies on the TIP Model did involve a matched comparison group 
and follow up. Karpur et al. (2005) examined the postsecondary outcomes of TIP program 
completers from a secondary school-based TIP Model program (former students with severe 
emotional disturbance [SED]) who had at least 1 year of exposure to TIP in contrast to the 
outcomes of other Y&YAs from the same urban school district. Comparison groups were 
matched on age, gender, and ethnicity, and were composed of: (1) former students with SED 
classifications who had no specialized transition services, and (2) former students with no 
previous disability classifications. The findings demonstrated statistically better outcomes 
across postsecondary indicators of education/vocational training and incarceration for the 
former TIP group in contrast to those of the SED comparison group. There was not 
a statistically significant difference between these two groups on the percentage of YAs 
employed. One interpretation of these findings is that the TIP group may have a higher 
likelihood of achieving future employment that provides a livable wage and meaningful career 
due to the higher percentage of YAs who continued into postsecondary education. The lower 
incarceration findings for the TIP group also suggests a better future for these YAs. On most of 
the postsecondary outcome indicators, the TIP program group percentages were more closely 
approaching the levels of the comparison group of YAs with no disabilities classifications than 
did the matched comparison non-TIP group SED group.

The findings from both of these preliminary comparison studies (i.e., Karpur et al., 
2005; and Study 2) include outcomes on important transition to adulthood markers 
(e.g., employment, education, living situations). Also, these findings, like those of 
Haber et al. (2008b) and Klodnick et al. (2020) provide further evidence of the positive 
impact that the TIP Model has on Y&YAs with SMHCs and related problems.

Although these studies are continuing to contribute to the research underpinnings of the 
TIP Model, the need for randomized controlled studies on transition to adulthood programs 
continues to be of importance. A few of the valiant efforts related to random controlled studies 
of programs are represented by: (1) Valentine et al. (2018) where the Youth Villages program 
was tested with some encouraging findings for the program group verses the services as usual 
group for Y&YAs with foster care or juvenile justice involvement; (2) Geenen et al. (2015) 
where the Better Futures program was tested with participants in foster care who were in 
higher education; and (3) Davis & Sheidow, 2020) where a large-scale long-term randomize 
controlled study is currently underway to examine the impact of Multisystemic Therapy for 
Emerging Adults program serving criminal offenders with SMHCs.

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 17

AGENDA ITEM
#10.20 



General discussion and implications

This research article contributes further to an understanding of how a large county 
collaborative can implement and sustain a transition program to better serve Y&YAs and 
their families (Clark et al., 2015; Walker, 2015). These program efforts were guided by 
implementation science (Fixsen et al., 2005 &, 2019) and more specifically strategies specific 
to implementation of transition to adulthood programs (Clark et al., 2015).

The TIP Model has been shown to be effective in improving the progress and 
outcomes of Y&YAs (Clark et al., 2004, 2008; Klodnick et al., 2020). The current studies 
extend these findings substantially by demonstrating: (1) implementation of the TIP 
Model across multiple transition teams with different provider agencies; (2) all of this 
being done in the context of a collaborative across a large metropolitan area; and (3) 
progress and outcome improvements on a relatively large sample of Y&YAs with 
SMHCs and other risk problems. Large percentages of Y&YAs showed substantial 
improvements across most all of the outcome indicators. These findings extended to 
an examination of some subgroups, analyzing outcomes for females, males, Blacks, and 
Y&YAs with depression diagnoses. All of the percentage changes in the outcomes were 
in the hypothesize direction and 88% of the 47 analyses were found to be statistically 
significant (Tables 2, 3, & 4).

The comparison study (Study 2) also contributes to an understanding of the impact of 
the TIP Model when compared to a typical case management approach for working with 
Y&YAs who have SMHCs and are in transition to adulthood. The TIP Model demonstrated 
a significantly larger proportion of Y&YAs being employed and living in home-type settings 
in contrast to those achieved by the treatment as usual (TAU) group. Attending school, 
college, and vocational/technical training programs was not shown to be statistically 
significant in this comparison study, however, it was found to be a significant improvement 
in all of the analyses on this variable under Study 1 and also in the comparison study that 
was described earlier in this article (Karpur et al., 2005). The “education marker” is 
considered extremely important in that education/training programs are typical paths to 
careers which might provide greater job satisfaction along with other economic advantages 
(e.g., livable wage, benefits).

Both Studies 1 and 2 showed that the Y&YAs benefited greatly from the collaborative 
which expanded transitional housing and scattered site apartment placement and sup-
ports. The findings from the comparison study also illustrate that the TIP Model yielded 
better independent living outcomes than those for the TAU group even though these 
same housing options and most of these same resources were available to both groups. 
Similarly, the IPS team resources were also available to Y&YAs from both groups, yet the 
TIP group yielded statistically significant better employment outcomes. These findings 
may relate to the individually tailored supports, futures planning, and a focus on skill 
development (e.g., emotional regulation, interpersonal interactional skills), and the 
application of a problem-solving and decision-making method – all of which are 
essential features of the TIP Model (e.g., Dresser et al., 2014; Klodnick et al., 2020; 
www.TIPstars.org).

Future research will also need to examine the implementation, effectiveness, and 
sustainability of the TIP Model through: (1) randomized controlled studies; (2) examina-
tion of its effectiveness with Y&YAs with different orientations and characteristics, such 

18 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.21 

http://www.TIPstars.org


as, sexual identity, diagnoses, and co-occurring substance use; and (3) exploring the 
extent to which a community collaborative facilitates the building of a contextual support 
system for the sustaining of the TIP Model and infusion of its principles throughout 
various agencies across the county. It will also be important to conduct cost/benefit 
studies to examine if a given transition program is being cost effective for society. 
A preliminary “cost avoidance” study was conducted on the TIP Model and demonstrated 
reduction in the involvement in the criminal justice system and decrease in the use of 
“intensive” mental health/substance abuse services and public assistance (Clark et al., 
2004). This cost avoidance study suggested that there were substantial savings achieved 
that greatly exceeded the cost of the program. To further advance the transition to 
adulthood research base will require some larger scale studies that extend over 
a substantial number of years to be able to track the life progression of the youth as 
they become emerging adults and adults.

The BBHC and the provider agency leadership created an implementation plan and 
involved Y&YAs, parents, provider personnel, and other community representatives to 
systematically address the barriers they found in the community and expand the collaborative 
to support the practices that were needed to engage and advance their Y&YAs. Having 
a collaborative like the BBHC, with county, city, and agency leadership and funding entities 
that are attentive to and willing to make data-based decisions is a jewel for applied researchers, 
but even more importantly for the communities and citizens being served.

Note

1. The original data collection occurred under an expansion grant from the Substance Abuse 
Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). This expansion grant was entitled: One 
Community Partnership 2 (OCP2), SAMHSA grant number 1U79SM062454-01, with funding 
for 4 years. It was awarded to the Broward County Commission through its Community 
Partnership Division’s Children’s Services Administration and implemented by the Broward 
Behavioral Health Coalition, Inc with assistance from the Children Services Council of 
Broward County.

Notes on contributor

Authors’ Note Direct correspondence regarding this manuscript to Rhonda Bohs, Ph.D. CEO, System 
of Care Partners, LLC, 1110 Johnson St, Hollywood, FL 33,019,Rhonda@SOCpartners.net.

The authors appreciate the additional evaluation efforts contributed by Jennifer Holtz, LMHC, of 
the System of Care Partners, LLC; and by Alfonso Ruiz, CRPS, from the Broward Behavioral Health 
Coalition who served as a Peer Evaluator & Data Collector. The authors also want to recognize Silvia 
Quintana, CEO, Broward Behavioral Health Coalition, Inc. for her support and assistance with this 
study. The authors thank the leadership of Broward County Community Partnership Division’s 
Children’s Services Administration and the Children’s Services Council of Broward County for their 
support in applying for the original grant – and the agency leadership, supervisors, and transition 
facilitators of the six transition teams and the young people they served at the following participating 
agencies: Camelot Community Care, Gulfcoast Jewish and Family Community Services, Henderson 
Behavioral Health, Smith Community Mental Health, South Florida Wellness Network, and 
Sunserve. The authors also recognize that TIP Model implementation could not have been accom-
plished without the excellent training and technical assistance provided by Adele Aparicio who served 
as the primary TIP Model national consultant to the Broward Behavioral Health Coalition. Adele is 

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 19

AGENDA ITEM
#10.22 



also a Certified Chief Fidelity Assessor for the TIP Model and is employed at the TIP Model purveyor: 
Stars Training Academy of the Stars Behavioral Health Group in Long Beach, CA.

The other two authors of this article are: Tiffany Lawrence, LMFT, Program Director, Broward 
Behavioral Health Coalition, 3521 W. Broward Blvd., Lauderhill, FL 33,312, tlawrence@bbhcflorida.org 
and Hewitt B. “Rusty” Clark, Ph.D., Professor Emeritus, University of South Florida and Director, 
National Network on Youth Transition, 199 Dali Blvd., Unit 905, St Petersburg, FL 33,701, 
RClarkTIP@gmail.com.

Disclosure of possible conflict of interest

The third author is the developer of the Transition to Independence Process (TIP) Model and is 
a Research Consultant to the Stars Behavioral Health Group that serves as the purveyor of the TIP 
Model.

Funding

This work was supported by the SAMHSA [1U79SM062454-01].

References

Armstrong, K. H., Dedrick, R. F., & Greenbaum, P. E. (2003). Factors associated with community 
adjustment of young adults with serious emotional disturbance: A longitudinal analysis. Journal of 
Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 11(2), 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/106342660301100201 

Arnett, J. J. (2004). Emerging adulthood: The winding road from the late teens through the twenties (1st 
ed.). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprofoso/9780195309379.001.0001 

Belfield, C. R., & Levin, H. M. (2007). The price we pay: Economic and social consequences of 
inadequate education. Brookings Institution Press.

Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Peterson, A. E., Jones, A. M., & Williams, J. (2014). Long- 
term sustainability of evidence-based practices in community mental health agencies. 
Administration and Policy in Mental Health, 41(2), 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-012- 
0461-5 

Clark, H. B., Pschorr, O., Wells, P., Curtis, M., & Tighe, T. (2004). Transition into community roles 
for young people with emotional behavioral difficulties: Collaborative systems and program out-
comes. In D. Cheney (Ed.), Transition of secondary approaches for positive outcomes (pp. 201–226). 
The Council for Children with Behavioral Disorders.

Clark, H. B., Deschênes, N., Sieler, D., Green, M., White, G., & Sondheimer, D. (2008). Services for 
youth in transition to adulthood in systems of care. In B. A. Stroul & G. M. Blau (Eds.), The system 
of care handbook: Transforming mental health services for children, youth, and families (pp. 
517–543). Brookes Publishing.

Clark, H. B., & Unruh, D. K. (2009). Introduction to adulthood issues and the evidence-supported 
handbook: Understanding and addressing the needs of transition-age youth and young adults and 
their families. In H. B. Clark & D. K. Unruh (Eds.), Transition of youth and young adults with 
emotional or behavioral difficulties: An evidence-supported handbook (pp. 3–22). Brookes 
Publishing.

Clark, H. B., & Hart, K. (2009). Navigating the obstacle course: An evidence supported community 
transition system. In H. B. Clark & D. K. Unruh (Eds.), Transitions of youth and young adults with 
emotional or behavioral disorders: An evidence-supported handbook (pp. 47–113). Brookes 
Publishing.

Clark, H. B., Jaouich, J., & Baker, K. (2015). The transition to independence process: Implementation 
of the TIP model for improving the outcomes of youth and young adults with emotional/ 
behavioral difficulties. In B. G. Cook, M. Tankersley., & T. J. Landrum (Eds.), Transition of 

20 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.23 

https://doi.org/10.1177/106342660301100201
https://doi.org/10.1093/acprofoso/9780195309379.001.0001
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-012-0461-5
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-012-0461-5


youth and young adults: Advances in learning and behavioral disabilities (pp. 135–173). Emerald 
Books. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0735-004X20150000028007 

Davis, M., Green, M., & Hoffman, C. (2009). The service system obstacle course for transition-age 
youth and young adults. In H. B. Clark & D. K. Unruh (Eds.), Transition of youth and young adults 
with emotional or behavioral difficulties: An evidence-supported handbook (pp. 25–46). Brookes 
Publishing.

Davis, M., & Sheidow, A. J. (2020). Multisystemic therapy-emerging adults trial (MST-EA). National 
Institutes of Health, U.S. National Library of Medicine, ClinicalTrials.gov-Identifier:NCT02922335 .

Davis, M., Sheidow, A. J., & McCart, M. R. (2015). Reducing recidivism and symptoms in emerging 
adults with serious mental health conditions and justice system involvement. Journal of Behavioral 
Health Services & Research, 42(2), 172–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9425-8 

Dresser, K., Clark, H. B., & Deschênes, N. (2014). Implementation of a positive development, 
evidence-supported practice for emerging adults with serious mental health conditions: The 
Transition to Independence Process (TIP) Model. The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & 
Research, 42(2), 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9438-3 

Fixsen, D. L., Blase, K. A., & Van Dyke, M. K. (2019). Implementation practice & science. Active 
Implementation Research Network. www.activeimplementation.org/resources 

Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., Friedman, R. M., & Wallace, F. (2005). Implementation 
research: A synthesis of the literature, The National Implementation Research Network, (FMHI 
Publication #231). https://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/resources/implementation-research-synthesis- 
literature 

Geenen, S., Powers, L. E., & Phillips, L. A. (2015). Better futures: A randomized field test of a model 
for supporting young people in foster care with mental health challenges to participate in higher 
education. Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 42(2), 159–171. https://doi.org/10. 
1007/s11414-014-9451-6 

Haber, M., Clark, H. B., Karpur, A., & Deschênes, N. (2008b). C. Newman, C. Liberton, K. Kutash, & 
R. M. Friedman (Eds.), The 21st annual research conference proceedings: A system of care for 
children’s mental health: Expanding the research base. Predictors of progress among youth in the 
Partnerships for Youth Transition demonstration ed. (pp. 134–135). University of South Florida. 
The Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute.

Haber, M., Karpur, A., Deschênes, N., & Clark, H. B. (2008a). Predicting improvement of transition-
ing young people in the partnerships for youth transition initiative: Findings from a multisite 
demonstration. Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 35(4), 488–513. https://doi.org/ 
10.1007/s11414-008-9126-2 

Hodgekins, J., Birchwood, M., Christopher, R., Marshall, M., Coker, S., Everard, L., Lester, H., 
Jones, P., Amos, T., Singh, S., Sharma, V., Freemantle, N., & Fowler, D. (2015). Investigating 
trajectories of social recovery in individuals with first-episode psychosis: A latent class growth 
analysis. British Journal of Psychiatry, 207(6), 536–543. https://doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.153486 

Hoffman, C., Heflinger, C. A., Athay, M., & Davis, M. (2009). Policy, funding, sustainability: Issues 
and recommendations for promoting effective transition systems. In H. B. Clark & D. K. Unruh 
(Eds.), Transition of youth & young adults with emotional or behavioral difficulties: An evidence- 
supported handbook (pp. 263–290). Brookes Publishing.

Karpur, A., Clark, H. B., Caproni, P., & Sterner, H. (2005). Transition to adult roles for students with 
emotional/behavioral disturbances: A follow-up study of student exiters from Steps-to-Success. 
Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 28(1), 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 
08857288050280010601 

Klodnick, V. V., Malina, C., Fagan, M. A., Johnson, R. P., Brenits, A., Zeidner, E., & Viruet, J. (2020). 
Meeting the developmental needs of young adults diagnosed with serious mental health challenges: 
The emerge model. The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 
s11414-020-09699-0 

Lee, S. J., Kim, K. R., Lee, S. Y., & An, S. K. (2017). Impaired social and role function in ultra-high risk 
for psychosis and first-episode schizophrenia: Its relations with negative symptoms. Psychiatry 
Investigation, 14(5), 539–545. https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2017.14.5.539 

JOURNAL OF EVIDENCE-BASED SOCIAL WORK 21

AGENDA ITEM
#10.24 

https://doi.org/10.1108/S0735-004X20150000028007
http://ClinicalTrials.gov-Identifier:NCT02922335
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9425-8
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9438-3
http://www.activeimplementation.org/resources
https://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/resources/implementation-research-synthesis-literature
https://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/resources/implementation-research-synthesis-literature
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9451-6
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9451-6
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-008-9126-2
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-008-9126-2
https://doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.153486
https://doi.org/10.1177/08857288050280010601
https://doi.org/10.1177/08857288050280010601
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-020-09699-0
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-020-09699-0
https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2017.14.5.539


Lyons, P. M., Jr., & Melton, G. B. (2005). Coping with mental health problems in young adulthood: 
Diversity of need and uniformity of programs. In D. W. Osgood, E. M. Foster, C. Flanagan, & 
G. R. Ruth (Eds.), On your own without a net: The transition to adulthood for vulnerable popula-
tions (pp. 304–322). The University of Chicago Press.

Newman, L., Wagner, M., Knokey, A.-M., Marder, C., Nagle, K., Shaver, D., Wei, X., Cameto, R., 
Contreras, E., Ferguson, K., Greene, S., & Schwarting, M. (2011). The post-high school outcomes of 
young adults with disabilities up to 8 years after high school. A report from the National Longitudinal 
Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). (NCSER 2011-3005). SRI International. https://ies.ed.gov/ncser/pubs/ 
20113005/pdf/20113005.pdf 

Pleis, J. R., Ward, B. W., & Lucas, J. W. (2010). Summary health statistics for U. S. adults: National 
Health Interview Survey. National Center for Health Statistics, US Department of Health and 
Human Services, 10(249). https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_10/sr10_249.pdf 

Pottick, K. J., Bilder, S., Vander Stoep, A., Warner, L. A., & Alvarez, M. F. (2008). U.S. patterns of 
mental health service utilization for transition-age youth and young adults. Journal of Behavioral 
Health Services and Research, 35(4), 373–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-007-9080-4 

Rouse, C. E. (2007). Quantifying the costs of inadequate education: Consequences of the labor 
market. In C. R. Belfield & H. M. Levin (Eds.), The price we pay: Economic and social consequences 
of inadequate education (pp. 99–124). Brookings Institution Press.

Schilling, E. A., Aseltine, R. H., Jr, & Gore, S. (2007). Adverse childhood experiences and mental 
health in young adults: A longitudinal survey. BMC Public Health, 7(30), 1–10. https://doi.org/10. 
1186/1471-2458-7-30 

Sheidow, A. J., McCart, M., Zajac, K., & Davis, M. (2012). Prevalence and impact of substance use 
among emerging adults with serious mental health conditions. Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 
35(3), 235–243. https://doi.org/10.2975/35.3.2012.235.243 

Sheidow, A. J., McCart, M. R., & Davis, M. (2016). Multisystemic therapy for emerging adults with 
serious mental illness and justice involvement. Cognitive and Behavioral Practice, 23(3), 356–367. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2015.09.003 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
Administration. (2018). National survey on drug use and health. Center for Behavioral Health 
Statistics and Quality. https://datafiles.samhsa.gov/ 

U.S. Department of Labor. (2010). Labor force statistics from the current population survey. Bureau 
of Labor Statistics. http://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsa2009.pdf 

Unruh, D., & Clark, H. B. (2009). Futures focus: Practice, program, system, policy, and research. In 
H. B. Clark & D. K. Unruh (Eds.), Transition of youth and young adults with emotional or 
behavioral difficulties: An evidence-supported handbook (pp. 325–343). Brookes Publishing.

Valentine, E. J., Skemer, M., & Courtney, M. (2018, December). Making their way: Summary report on 
the youth villages transitional living evaluation. MDRC. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3353465 

Wagner, M., & Newman, L. (2012). Longitudinal transition outcomes of youth with emotional 
disturbances. Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 35(3), 199–208. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.2975/ 
35.3.2012.199.208 

Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., Levine, P., & Garza, N. (2006). An overview of findings from 
Wave 2 of the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). SRI International. www.nlts2. 
org/reports/2006_08/nlts2_report_2006_08_complete.pdf 

Walker, J. S. (2015). A theory of change for positive developmental approaches to improving 
outcomes among emerging adults with mental health conditions. Journal of Behavioral Health 
Services and Research, 42(2), 131–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9438-3 

Walker, J. S., & Baird, C. (2018). Using “remote” training and coaching to increase providers’ skills for 
working effectively with older youth and young adults with serious mental health conditions. 
Children and Youth Services Review, 100, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.02. 
040 

Walrath, C., Blase, K. A., & Kanary, P. J. (2008). Implementing evidence-based practices within 
systems of care. In B. A. Stroul & G. M. Blau (Eds.), The system of care handbook: Transforming 
mental health services for children, youth, and families (pp. 155–181). Brookes Publishing.

22 R. BOHS ET AL.

AGENDA ITEM
#10.25 

https://ies.ed.gov/ncser/pubs/20113005/pdf/20113005.pdf
https://ies.ed.gov/ncser/pubs/20113005/pdf/20113005.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_10/sr10_249.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-007-9080-4
https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-7-30
https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-7-30
https://doi.org/10.2975/35.3.2012.235.243
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2015.09.003
https://datafiles.samhsa.gov/
http://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsa2009.pdf
https://ssrn.com/abstract=3353465
https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.2975/35.3.2012.199.208
https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.2975/35.3.2012.199.208
http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2006_08/nlts2_report_2006_08_complete.pdf
http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2006_08/nlts2_report_2006_08_complete.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-014-9438-3
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.02.040
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.02.040

	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. HopeLink: Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	9. Associate Member Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	10. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	11. Adjournment  Evan Jones

	SDOC Agenda_Draft.pdf
	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna
	9. HopeLink: Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	10. Associate Member Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	11. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	12. Adjournment  Evan Jones


	SDOC Agenda_Draft.pdf
	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna
	9. Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	10. Community Partner Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	11. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	12. Adjournment  Evan Jones


	SDOC Agenda_Draft.pdf
	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna
	9. Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	10. HopeLink: TIP Program  Beth Hall
	11. Community Partner Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	12. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	13. Adjournment  Evan Jones


	TIP Program Info.pdf
	Article 3-1.pdf
	Abstract
	Program background
	Transition to independence process (TIP) model
	Broward behavioral health coalition
	Program implementation
	Purpose of the evaluation project
	Study 1: Outcomes from TIP model intervention

	Methods
	Participants
	Data collection and analysis on youth and young adult outcomes

	Results
	Discharge analysis
	Comparison of outcomes at shorter and longer term exposure to the program
	Outcomes related to characteristics of Y&YAs

	Discussion
	Study 2: TIP Model and comparison group study
	Methods
	Participants and experimental design
	Data collection

	Results
	Discussion
	General discussion and implications
	Note
	Notes on contributor
	Disclosure of possible conflict of interest
	Funding
	References


	SDOC Agenda_Draft.pdf
	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna
	9. Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	10. HopeLink: TIP Program  Beth Hall
	11. Community Partner Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	12. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	13. Adjournment  Evan Jones


	Youth & Family Services .pdf
	Youth & Family Services 
	Slide 1 
	Slide 2 
	Slide 3 
	Slide 4 
	Slide 5 
	Slide 6 
	Slide 7 
	Slide 8 
	Slide 9 
	Slide 10 
	Slide 11 
	Slide 12 
	Slide 13 


	SDOC Agenda_Draft.pdf
	FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
	Wednesday, April 10, 2024, 5:00 PM

	MEETING AGENDA
	1. Meeting Called to Order  Evan Jones
	2. Roll Call, Audibility and Preliminary Motions  Evan Jones
	3. Matters of the Public  Evan Jones
	4. Amendments to the Meeting Agenda  Evan Jones
	5. Approval of the February 14, 2024, Meeting Minutes   Evan Jones
	6. DD Waiver Expansion and DD-BH System Integration  Heather Norton
	7. Legislative Update  Elizabeth McCartney
	8. Northern Virginia Regional Office Update  Sebastian Tezna
	9. Youth Behavioral Health  LaVurne Williams &
	10. HopeLink: TIP Program  Beth Hall
	11. Community Partner Reports, Updates, and Concerns  Evan Jones
	12. Staff Reports  Barbara Wadley-Young &
	..   Abbey May
	13. Adjournment  Evan Jones



